PATHOLOGICAL FEATURES OF NASH

Elizabeth M. Brunt ¹, and Dina G. Tiniakos ²

¹Department of Pathology, Saint Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, U.S.A. ²Laboratory of Histology and Embryology, University of Athens School of Medicine, Athens, Greece

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Pathological features of NADLD and NASH
 - 3.1. Historical overview
 - 3.2. Adult NAFLD and NASH
 - 3.2.1. Steatosis
 - 3.2.2. Hepatocellular injury
 - 3.2.3. Inflammation
 - 3.2.4. Fibrosis
 - 3.2.5. Other histologic lesions of NASH
- 4. Semiquantitative assessments in NAFLD and NASH
- 5. Pediatric NAFLD and NASH
- 6. Perspective
- 7. Acknowledgement
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a term currently applied to accumulation of triglycerides in the liver which is observed microscopically as "macrovesicular" steatosis. The term applies to the full range of liver parenchymal injury from "simple steatosis" to "steatohepatitis" with or without fibrosis. This article discusses the full histopathologic spectrum of NAFLD. Additionally, the summary includes an historical overview as well as contemporary thoughts on the significance of the process(es). While largely focused on adult NAFLD, the manuscript also summarizes what has been reported to date for NAFLD in the pediatric population.

2. INTRODUCTION

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is an increasingly recognized medical problem throughout the Western world and in Asia, in adults and in children. NAFLD may be the most common cause of chronic liver disease, with an estimated prevalence of up to 24% in the general population (1-5). Recent analyses from population screening in the United States have shown that NAFLD may be the underlying explanation for 80% of elevated liver tests in adults (6-8), far exceeding the prevalence of hepatitis C (9). In addition, NAFLD is no longer considered a simple "benign" process, but rather a spectrum of liver injury that spans simple steatosis to steatohepatitis with progressive injury including fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver failure and hepatocellular carcinoma (10-12).

Long associated with obesity, NAFLD is now closely associated with features of the cluster of disorders known as Metabolic Syndrome which includes central obesity, impaired glucose tolerance or type II diabetes, arterial hypertension and dyslipidemia; some authors have concluded that NAFLD is the hepatic manifestation of the Metabolic Syndrome (13-15). Certainly, the association with insulin resistance has been shown in careful clinical assessments (15-17) and in recent treatment trials specifically targeted improvement in insulin sensitivity (18-21).

Other reported clinical associations with the histologic features of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) include nutritional disorders (rapid weight loss or malnutrition, as well as obesity), certain drugs and toxins, obesity (bariatric) surgery, pancreato-biliary diversions, bacterial contamination of the small bowel, and some inherited metabolic conditions (1,4,22). Interestingly, studies have shown that NASH may be diagnosed in biopsies of patients who are neither overweight (23,24), nor have elevated liver tests(25).

The diagnosis is derived from a combination of clinical and histopathologic information; the lack of "significant" alcohol use (commonly stated as <20g/d for women, <40g/day for men) can only be established clinically, while the presence of the lesions of NAFLD and NASH, discussed below, can only reliably be detected by microscopic evaluation. Various imaging tests may detect

Table 1. Pathological findings in NASH Modified from reference 29

Necessarily present	Usually present; but not necessary for diagnosis	May be present but not necessary for diagnosis	Unusual for NASH; consider other causes of liver disease
Steatosis, macrovesicular > microvesicular; most commonly present in acinar zone 3 Minimum quantity not known but at least > 5%	Zone 3 perisinusoidal/pericellular fibrosis; eventually is component of central- portal bridging fibrosis	Mallory's hyaline in Zone 3 hepatocytes; typically poorly-formed, may require antibodies to ubiquitin, p62 or CKs 8,18 to detect	Purely or predominantly microvesicular steatosis Very little macrosteatosis in a nonzonal distribution or zone 1 predominant
Mixed, mild lobular inflammation; scattered polymorphonuclear leukocytes as well as mononuclear cells	Zone 1 hepatocellular glycogenated nuclei	1+ granular periportal (zone 1) hepatocellular iron or mild panacinar sinusoidal lining cell iron by Prussian Blue	Portal inflammation greater than lobular inflammation; lymphoid aggregates; numerous plasma cells
Hepatocellular ballooning; most frequent near steatotic liver cells, typically in zone 3	Lipogranulomas in the lobules; of varying, but usually small size	Megamitochondria in hepatocytes	Sclerosing hyaline necrosis; veno-occlusive lesions; perivenular fibrosis, phlebosclerosis
	Occasional acidophil bodies; occasional PAS-d Kupffer cells		Portal/periportal fibrosis in absence of, or markedly greater than zone 3 perisinusoidal fibrosis; portal-based bridging fibrosis
	Fat cysts		Lobular disarray and marked inflammation; endophlebitis; confluent or bridging necrosis
			Acute or chronic cholestasis; bile duct lesions, bile duct loss, or ductular proliferation (reaction)
			PAS-d globules in hepatocytes

PAS-d: Periodic acid Schiff stain after diastase predigestion; CK: cytokeratin

fat accumulation in the liver, but below 30%, none have proven to be reliable(26) and liver biopsy remains the "gold standard" (27). The minimal histologic criterion is the presence of steatosis, i.e. the accumulation of triglycerides within hepatocytes; the lower limit of steatosis necessary for the diagnosis is often noted at >5%, but this is not a well-established figure (28,29). Liver biopsy also serves other purposes not attainable by imaging studies: to establish severity of activity, severity of fibrosis and architectural remodeling, establish the possible concurrence with other liver diseases, and offer alternative diagnoses in cases that are not otherwise diagnostic or suggestive of NAFLD or NASH (27,30-32).

3. PATHOLOGIC FEATURES OF NAFLD AND NASH

3.1. Historical Overview

Although the current "epidemic" of obesity has brought NAFLD and NASH to the forefront in liver disease and the larger medical and lay communities, pathologists and clinicians specialized in liver disease historically have noted the lesions and clinical associations we discuss today. For instance, Connor described fatty infiltration and cirrhosis in diabetics in 1938 (33) and Westwater et al (34)and Thaler et al (35,36)discussed steatosis in obesity in 1958, 1962, and 1975, respectively. In fact, prior to 1980 when Ludwig et al published the seminal series credited for establishing NASH as an entity (37), there were several series in the literature that identified the hepatic lesions that resembled those of alcoholic liver disease, and the relationship of steatosis with obesity, diabetes and the potential for progression to cirrhosis; several examples are listed (38-44).

Although the terms "NASH" and "NAFLD" had been utilized in prior literature, Ludwig et al are credited with establishing the acronym "NASH" in their careful study of 20 biopsies with features of alcoholic hepatitis

from patients with well-documented lack of alcohol use (37). Matteoni et al are credited with expanding the concept of fatty liver disease to include steatosis without necroinflammation or fibrosis in the study that proposed the 4 classifications of fatty liver disease based on differing rates of cirrhosis and death in 98 patients (45). It is upon the foundations established by the early studies, and the work of Ludwig et al, and Matteoni et al, that current work has developed.

3.2. Adult NAFLD and NASH

We have chosen to discuss the lesions of adult and pediatric NAFLD and NASH separately, as much more work has been done and therefore more is understood and agreed upon in the former. Interestingly, almost 25 years after the Mayo Clinic study, there remain ongoing discussions amongst pathologists as to minimum necessary criteria for diagnosis. This topic was recently highlighted by a published survey of 10 international hepatopathologists who have published in the field (27); specific areas of agreement and discussion will be highlighted. Younossi et al noted several years ago that the differences in histologic criteria utilized in different studies may be a source of discordance in results (46); unfortunately, that concept remains valid today.

It is generally agreed upon that a constellation of lesions is required; included in the constellation are steatosis, inflammation (lobular and variably portal), and hepatocellular injury (commonly ballooning); common, but not "required" is perisinusoidal fibrosis (Table 1). In **noncirrhotic** steatohepatitis (both alcoholic and nonalcoholic) the lesions are usually concentrated in the centrilobular area, zone 3 of the hepatic acinus. Each of the histological lesions of steatohepatitis have each been associated with specific mechanisms speculated in pathogenesis, as reviewed (47,48).

3.2.1. Steatosis

Hepatocellular steatosis in NAFLD is more commonly macrovesicular, large droplet fat that appears as

a single or several areas of clearing within affected hepatocytes. Typically, the involved hepatocyte's nucleus is displaced eccentrically by the fat droplet. Clusters of hepatocytes with small droplet steatosis or true microvesicular steatosis may be observed, but never as a majority. The large droplet steatosis represents aberrations of lipid metabolism (excess delivery, altered intracellular metabolism, possibly increased synthesis, and abnormal export mechanisms), whereas abundant microvesicular steatosis results from defective beta-oxidation, such as in mitochondrial cytopathies (Reve's syndrome, fatty liver of pregnancy) and disorders of urea metabolism. As has been noted, the latter group of disorders are characterized by rapid progression to liver failure, whereas disorders of macrovesicular steatosis are more commonly slowly progressive.

Steatosis in NAFLD and NASH is evaluated in a semiquantitative fashion microscopically; a common method follows the acinar architecture of the liver parenchyma and reports steatosis' involvement in terms of thirds: <33%, 33-66%, >66% (49,50). A recently proposed modification includes the minimal amount of steatosis:<5% as grade 0 and 5-33% as grade 1 (51). While studies have shown correlation of steatosis grade with CT determination of hepatic steatosis (as determined by liver:spleen ratio) (52), a recent abstract reports lack of correlation of microscopic assessment of steatosis with biochemically-determined triglycerides (53).

As with all the lesions of NASH, steatosis may or may not persist in cirrhosis. The determination of which cases will be involved and the actual course of "disappearance" of lesions is not known, but the fact has been well-established in biopsy series (54,55). These observations, and careful clinical studies of cirrhotic patients have led to current speculation that many cases of cryptogenic cirrhosis are actually "burned-out" NASH (56,57).

3.2.2. Hepatocellular injury

Hepatocellular ballooning refers to enlarged, swollen hepatocytes with cytoplasmic rarefaction. In noncirrhotic cases, these are commonly located in acinar zone 3 admixed with steatotic hepatocytes and are often identified in areas of perisinusoidal fibrosis (27,29,30,58). Ballooned hepatocytes have historically been considered to be manifestations of microtubular disruption in severe cell injury preceding lytic necrosis (28). A recent ultrastructural analysis has shown that at least some contain small droplet steatosis, and the investigators consider this as an adaptive change (59).

Apoptosis is another form of hepatocellular injury; acidophil bodies are occasionally found in NASH. Recent studies have shown markers for apoptosis in NASH and have found them to be more common than in alcoholic hepatitis (60,61). Feldstein et al have further speculated that apoptosis is a manifestation of lipotoxicity that leads to apoptosis via the TNFalpha pathway and correlates with disease severity (60).

Large regions of necrosis, such as confluent or bridging necrosis, are very uncommon in NASH, although some cases have been reported (62,63).

3.2.3. Inflammation

Both lobular and portal inflammation may occur in NASH. Steatosis without inflammation (Matteoni NAFLD type 1) or steatosis with only mild inflammation but no ballooning (Matteoni, type 2) are considered relatively "nonprogressive" forms of NAFLD (45). In the Matteoni study, cirrhosis was noted in 21-28% of subjects with types 3 and 4 repsecitively, compared with 4% and none in types 1 and 2, respectively (45). Lobular inflammation is commonly mixed: lymphocytes, other mononuclear cells, occasional polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and lipogranulomas. Portal inflammation, on the other hand, is lymphocytic; the presence of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in portal and periportal regions is suggestive of alcoholic liver disease, or another process altogether (30,58,64).

Portal inflammation is either absent or mild in NASH; when portal inflammation is disproportionate to the lobular inflammation, there is concern of a concurrent process, such as hepatitis C (30). Recently, one group has noted that portal inflammation greater than lobular inflammation was identified as a histologic finding of resolution in treated NASH (18).

Lipogranulomas may or may not be present. They may consist of a single hepatocyte rimmed by mononuclear cells and an eosinophil. When large, lipogranulomas may elicit fibrosis and this is not to be confused with the perisinusoidal fibrosis of NASH (30). Microgranulomas and single, PAS-diastase-positive pigmented Kupffer cells may also be noted scattered in the lobules; these foci represent prior necroinflammatory activity.

3.2.4. Fibrosis

The characteristic pattern of initial deposition of collagen of NASH distinguishes this process from the patterns of fibrosis in early stages in chronic hepatitis of viral and autoimmune origins, or chronic cholestatic liver diseases. The latter and last are characterized by portalbased fibrosis, whereas in steatohepatitis, due to either alcoholic or the various nonalcoholic etiologies, the earliest deposition is in the pericentral, zone 3 perisinusoidal spaces (28,37,58,62). The pattern has been described variably as "chickenwire" and "pericellular", as the collagen fibers are present in a manner that resembles the lattice of a chickenwire fence. The collagen may be dense, and easily noted by routine staining, or may be quite delicate and require special stains for collagen, such as Masson's trichrome, to appreciate. With progression, the periportal regions may show fibrosis; bridging fibrosis may evolve between the vascular structures and with progression, At some stage in the progression, the cirrhosis. perisinusoidal fibrosis may become incorporated and no longer be appreciated as a discrete entity. investigators "require" the presence of zone 3

perisinusoidal fibrosis for the diagnosis of NASH, whereas others recognize it as common but not necessary (27).

The possibility of fibrosis arising only from the portal areas and not involving zone 3 in morbidly obese patients is an area of debate (65). One study in morbidly obese patients documented perisinusoidal fibrosis but only analyzed the portal-based fibrosis for features of prognosis (66), while another in a similar patient population required the zone 3 lesions present for diagnosis and prognosis, and documented the relationship to features of metabolic syndrome with these criteria (67). More experience will certainly be gained with this unique group of subjects with fatty liver disease.

Investigations of hepatic stellate cell activation in NASH have shown varying results in terms of relationship to steatosis, steatohepatitis and fibrosis visible by light microscopy (68,69).

3.2.5. Other histologic lesions of NASH

Mallory's hyaline, megamitochondria and glycogenated nuclei are lesions that are not uncommonly described in NASH, yet none are considered "required" for the diagnosis (27). An important reason to discuss them rests in the fact that their presence raises differential diagnostic possibilities that should be considered in histologic evaluation (30).

Mallory's hyaline (MH) is characterized by dense perinuclear intracytoplasmic inclusions, usually in ballooned hepatocytes in zone 3; this finding may be seen in alcoholic or nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, but in the former, MH may additionally be noted in shrunken, acidophilic hepatocytes and may actually require special stains to identify. As MH is chemotactic, the affected hepatocytes may be surrounded by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, a lesion referred to as "satellitosis". MH are noted most readily in more severe cases (50) and were identified in the study of Matteoni et al as a feature of the "progressive" forms of NAFLD (45). It has been noted by several investigators, however, that when MH are numerous, the process is more likely of alcoholic than nonalcoholic origin (28,30,62).

MH, however, is not an absolute diagnostic feature of NASH; MH are noted in disorders of copper metabolism including Wilson disease, copper toxicosis, chronic cholestatic disorders and some drugs (amiodarone, as example). In chronic cholestasis and in amiodarone effect, the MH are found in the periportal, zone 1 hepatocytes, in contrast to the zone 3 localization in steatohepatitis (28-30,58). Interestingly, MH may also occur in focal nodular hyperplasias, hepatocellular adenomas and hepatocellular carcinomas.

In contrast to the early concepts that MH represented a passive collapse of intracytoplasmic filaments, work in the past several years has shown that the formation of MH is a metabolically-active process for formation of a "sequestosome" for cytoprotection (70). Immunohistochemical assays available for identification of

MH (ubiquitin, p62 as examples) have resulted from detailed analysis of the pathophysiology(71,72).

Megamitochondria, noted by light microscopy as eosinophilic intracytoplasmic round or needle-shaped inclusions, are present in many cases of NASH; the exact frequency of occurrence in all of NAFLD is not known. Aberrations in mitochondrial beta oxidation are speculated as significant causes of production of reactive oxygen species and subsequent oxidative stress in NASH (47), hence the possible association of functional and structural abnormalities have been examined (73.73). Two groups have studied mitochondria by light and electron microscopy and have noted dysmorphic changes including crystalline inclusions, loss of cristae and multilamellar membranes (74-76). A recent report documented random distribution throughout the lobules, and concluded the abnormalities likely represent an adaptive response to oxidative stress rather than the result of cell injury (77). Megamitochondria are not known to affect assessments of histologic "severity"; similarly altered mitochondria may he noted in other liver diseases, such as alcoholic liver disease, acute fatty liver of pregnancy, and Wilson disease.

Glycogenated nuclei are noted as vacuolated nuclei in hepatocytes. In NASH, they are most commonly found in zone 1, but may be seen in clusters in a nonzonal distribution. These nuclear changes are noted in diabetes of all etiologies (78), in Wilson disease, and in pediatric livers; in NAFLD and NASH they are of uncertain significance beyond the possible association with diabetes (37). The lesion is more often noted in NASH than in alcoholic steatohepatitis (58,64,79).

Iron deposition in hepatocytes and/or in the reticulo-endothelial cells of the liver (sinusoidal lining cells, portal macrophages and endothelium of larger vascular structures) in uncomplicated NASH is mild, if present at all (27,29,30,45,50,52). The finding has been reported in 15-55% of the cases for which iron was Results of studies to find specifically evaluated. associations of abnormal iron indices, iron genetics or abnormal iron deposition in tissue have given conflicting results. One study reported an association of increased hepatocellular iron by staining with increased portal fibrosis (80), and some have speculated that insulin resistance and aberrant iron metabolism are related metabolic disorders (81-86). Studies of genetics have been inconclusive (87-90).

4. SEMIQUANTITATIVE ASSESSMENTS IN NAFLD AND NASH

Semiquantitative assessments for chronic viral (and autoimmune, metabolic and drug-induced) liver disease, such as "Scheuer" (91), "Knodell" (92), "METAVIR" (93,94), "Ishak" (95) were developed in order to standardize evaluations of liver biopsies primarily for treatment trials; with time, these methods have evolved into methods utilized in daily practice and serve as a means of reasonably reproducible assessment of ongoing injury (activity grade) and fibrosis (stage) (96). In 1999, a

Table 2. Proposed grading and staging of NASH. Modified from reference 50

Grading					
Grade	Steatosis	Ballooning	Lobular Inflammation	Portal Inflammation	
Grade 1,	Predominantly macrovesicular;	Occasionally observerd; zone 3	Scattered, mild acute (polymorphs) and	None or mild	
Mild	any amount	hepatocytes	occasional chronic (mononuclear)		
Grade 2,	Usually mixed; any amount	Obvious; present in zone 3	Polymorphs may be noted associated with	Mild to moderate	
Moderate			ballooned hepatocytes, pericellular fibrosis;		
			mild chronic inflammation may be seen		
Grade 3,	Usually mixed; typically >66%	Marked; zone 3	As above	As above	
Severe	and panacinar				

Steatosis: graded as 1 = 0-33%, 2 = 33%-66%, 3 = >66%.

Ballooning: zonal location noted and severity (mild or marked) recorded

Lobular Inflammation: 0-3 based on observations of foci per 20x field: 1 = 1-2 foci, 2 = up to 4 foci, 3 = 2 foci.

In addition, cell types (acute or chronic) and location are noted.

Portal inflammation: 0-3, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe

Staging					
Stage	Zone 3 Perisinusoidal	Periportal Fibrosis	Bridging Fibrosis	Cirrhosis	
	Fibrosis				
Stage 1	+, focal or extensive	No	No	No	
Stage 2	As above	Present, focal or extensive	No	No	
Stage 3	May or may not be present	May or may not be present	Present, focal or extensive	No	
Stage 4	As above	As above	As above	Yes	

Stage 1: Zone 3 perivenular, perisinusoidal/pericellular fibrosis, focal or extensive

Stage 2: As above with focal or extensive periportal fibrosis

Stage 3: Bridging fibrosis, focal or extensive

Stage 4: Cirrhosis

proposal to do the same for NASH was published; this proposal (the "Brunt" system) was based on the concept that the lesions of NASH are sufficiently different from those of chronic hepatitis as to warrant a unique system of evaluation (50). The system reflects the concept that NASH is a diagnosis based on a constellation of lesions; while steatosis, ballooning and inflammation (lobular and portal) are the factors to be evaluated for grade, it is the latter two that influence progression of grade. Marked steatosis, of itself, is not considered a marker of severity. Fibrosis scoring is based on the above-described progression from zone 3 perisinusoidal fibrosis to cirrhosis. (Table 2) The system has been widely used, but has not been formally tested in a prospective fashion.

In the past year, the Pathology Committee of the National Institute for Digestive Diseases, Diabetes and Kidney-sponsored NASH Clinical Research Cooperative did a prospective validation study of a modification of the "Brunt" scoring system that showed good interobserver and intraobserver correlations for each of the features, and found the lesions most associated with the diagnosis of "NASH" to be steatosis, lobular inflammation and ballooning for an activity score. The fibrosis score modification includes separation of stage 1 into dense or delicate, and offers a choice for "portal only" in order to evaluate the presence of this lesion (Table 3). The system is broad enough to evaluate for the spectrum of NAFLD. and for pediatric NAFLD, as discussed below. The system has been presented as an abstract, and is formally under review for publication (51).

5. PEDIATRIC NAFLD AND NASH

It is increasingly recognized that the full clinical and histologic spectrum of NAFLD and NASH may be present in children. The subject has been recently reviewed (97,98). While there are striking pathogenic similarities with adults, there have been differences in histologic changes in the cases published to date. The primary

differences include the abundance of steatosis, apparent lack of ballooning and MH, and potential absence of zone 3 perisinusoidal fibrosis with preponderance of portal fibrosis (27). It is not clear, at this stage, if the differences are true across all population groups, nor in all age groups, as several investigators have noted cases of pediatric NASH with histologic findings similar to adults (personal observations and personal communications). This is an area that will continue to evolve with increasing numbers of biopsies and large studies including the broad range in ages of "pediatrics". What is agreed upon, however, is the potential for cirrhosis is as real in children as in adults (97,99,100).

6. PERSPECTIVES

Newer observations in NAFLD and NASH are arising from recent therapeutic trials in well-characterized subjects with NASH. While not consistently done until recently, therapeutic trials now require biopsy evaluation at entry and in post-intervention follow-up (101). From these studies, lesions that "disappear" with treatment and lesions that may be manifestations of "resolution" are being documented. Most of the recent studies with intervention by weight loss or drug intervention have shown clinical efficacy and resolution of steatosis and lobular inflammation (18,19,102). One study of 30 subjects with follow-up biopsies in 22, showed a shift in the ratio of lobular:portal inflammation to favor the latter in resolution; in addition, there was an apparent qualitative change in dense perisinusoidal fibrosis to delicate perisinusoidal fibrosis in successfully treated subjects (18). A recent study showed lack of efficacy of ursodeoxycholic acid, but because the study design included a placebo group, the study demonstrated "spontaneous" improvement in some cases (103). This finding has also been observed in other clinical trials (18), in which there was an apparent improvement in histologic findings from the time of identification of the patient by biopsy, to the protocol enrollment biopsy for the study. These types of findings

Table 3. NASH Clinical Research Network (NIH) Histologic Scoring system for NAFLD and NASH. Reference 51

Activity score						
Steatosis	Lobular Inflammation		Ballooned hepatocytes	Total Score		
0-3	0-3		0-2	0-8		
	Steatosis: 0: <5%; 1:5-33%; 2:>33-66%; 3:>66%, Lobular inflammation: 0: none; 1:<2; 2:2-4; 3:>4 foci/20x, Ballooned hepatocytes: 0: none; 1: few; 2: many/prominent					
	Fibrosis. Modified "Brunt" criteria, reference 50					
Score	Zone 3 perisinusoidal fibrosis	Portal/periportal Fibrosis	Bridging Fibrosis	Cirrhosis		
0	None	None	None	None		
1a	Delicate, requires trichrome stain	No	No	No		
1 b	Dense	No	No	No		
1c	Not present	Present	No	No		
2	As above (1a,1b)	Present	No	No		
3	May or may not be present	May or may not be present	Present	No		
4	As above	As above	As above	Yes		

0: None, 1: 1a Mild (Delicate) Zone 3 Perisinusoidal Fibrosis, 1b Moderate (Dense) Zone 3 Perisinusoidal Fibrosis, 1c: Portal Fibrosis Only, 2: 1a/B With Periportal Fibrosis, 3: Bridging Fibrosis, Focal Or Extensive, 4: Cirrhosis Modified from reference 51

are of great value as the field is progressing and our understanding of this process broadens to include the possibility of improvement without specific intervention.

Another area of growing interest is that of the coexistence of NAFLD and NASH with other forms of chronic liver disease. This has been well-documented in a variety of biopsy-proven and serologically proven diseases (104-106). The association with hepatitis C infection is an area of exponential growth in the past 5 years, as both hepatitis C and NAFLD are common problems. Steatosis is a common histologic feature in both. The overlap (presence of steatosis) may be due to coincidence of two common processes, or may actually be due to virallymediated mechanisms, as several recent studies have shown (106-118).

A third area of growing interest is progression to hepatocellular carcinoma, as discussed, and the putative role of hepatic progenitor cells in NASH regeneration and malignancy (119,120).

Finally, several clinico-pathologic systems have been proposed to predict fibrosis, or to predict which patients would "benefit" from biopsy; some methods have been carefully developed in morbidly obese subjects (66,121), and some are more widely applicable to the broader population (49,122). It is postulated that with refinements in clinical predictors, such as a recently proposed system to include adiponectin levels (123), and increased sensitivity of radiologic imaging tests, in combination with increased understandings of possible genetic markers (47,124,125) and use of technology such as microarray analysis (126), the necessity for liver biopsy may gradually become less. In the meantime, the ongoing value of liver biopsy includes not only confirmation of diagnosis, but also exclusion (or evaluation) of other liver disease (31), and careful analysis of clinical correlations

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank Dr. Brian Collins for his computer/secretarial assistance.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Angulo, P.: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 346, 1221-1231(2002)
- 2. Neuschwander-Tetri, B. A.&S. H. Caldwell: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis:Summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference. *Hepatology*, 37, 1202-1219(2003)
- 3. McCullough, A. J.: Update on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 34, 255-262(2002)
- 4. Sanyal, A. J.: AGA technical review on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, 123, 1705-1725(2002)
- 5. Harrison, S. A.&B. A. Neuschwander-Tetri: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 861-879(2004)
- 6. Clark, J. M., F. L. Brancati&A. M. Diehl: The prevalence and etiology of elevated aminotransferase levels in the United States. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 98, 960-967(2003)
- 7. Ruhl, C. E.&J. E. Everhart: Determinants of the association of overweight with elevated serum alanine aminotrasferase activity in the United States. *Gastroenterology*, 124, 71-79(2003)
- 8. Ruhl, C. E.&J. E. Everhart: Epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 501-519(2004)
- 9. Yu, A. S.&E. B. Keefe: Elevated AST or ALT to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Accurate predictor of disease prevalence? (Editorial). *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 98, 955-956(2003)
- 10. Cotrim, H. P., R. Parana, E. Braga&L. Lyra: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma: natural history? *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 95, 3018-9(2000)
- 11. Marrero, J. A., R. J. Fontana, G. L. Su, H. S. Conjeevaram, D. M. Emick&A. S. Lok: NAFLD may be a common underlying liver disease in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. *Hepatology*, 36, 1349-1354(2002)
- 12. Shimada, M., E. Hashimoto, M. Taniai, K. Hasegawa, H. Okuda, N. Hayashi, K. Takasaki&J. Ludwig: Hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Hepatology*, 37, 154-160(2002)

- 13. Marchesini, G., M. Brizi, A. M. Morselli-Labate, G. Bianchi, E. Bugianesi, A. J. McCullough, G. Forlani&N. Melchionda: Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with insulin resistance. *American Journal of Medicine*, 107, 450-455(1999)
- 14. Marchesini, G., M. Brizi, G. Bianchi, S. Tomassetti, E. Bugianesi, M. Lenzi, A. J. McCullough, S. Natale, G. Forlani&N. Melchionda: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a feature of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes*, 50, 1844-1850(2001)
- 15. Marchesini, G., E. Bugianesi, G. Forlani, F. Cerrelli, M. Lenzi, R. Maninni, S. Natale, E. Vanni, N. Villanova, N. Melchionda&M. Rizzetto: Nonalcoholic fatty liver, steatohepatitis, and the metabolic syndrome. *Hepatology*, 37, 917-923(2003)
- 16. Chitturi, S., S. Abeygunasekera, G. C. Farrell, J. Holmes-Walker, J. M. Hui, C. Fung, R. Karim, R. Lin, D. Samarasinghe, C. Liddle, M. Weltman&J. George: NASH and insulin resistance: insulin hypersecretion and specific association with insulin resistance syndrome. *Hepatology*, 35, 373-379(2002)
- 17. Pagano, G., G. Pacini, G. Musso, R. Gambino, F. Mecca, N. Depetris, M. Cassader, E. David, P. Cavallo-Perin&M. Rizzetto: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome: further evidence for an etiologic association. *Hepatology*, 35, 367-372(2002)
- 18. Neuschwander-Tetri, B. A., E. M. Brunt, K. R. Wehmeier, D. Oliver&B. R. Bacon: Improvement in nonoalcholic steatohepatitis following 48 weeks of treatment with the PPAR-g ligand rosiglitazone. *Hepatology*, 38, 1008-1017(2003)
- 19. Promrat, K., G. Lutchman, G. I. Uwaifo, R. J. Freedman, A. Soza, T. Heller, E. Doo, M. Ghany, A. Premkumar, Y. Park, T. J. Liang, J. A. Yanoviski, D. E. Kleiner&J. H. Hoofnagle: A pilot study of pioglitazone treatment fo nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 39, 188-196(2004)
- 20. Caldwell, S. H., E. E. Hespenheide, J. A. Redick, J. C. Iezzoni, E. H. Battle&B. L. Sheppard: A pilot study of a thiazolidinedione, troglitazone, in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 96, 519-525(2001)
- 21. Marchesini, G., M. Brizi, G. Bianchi, S. Tomassetti, M. Zoli&N. Melchionda: Metformin in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Lancet*, 358, 893-894(2001)
- 22. Falck-Ytter, Y., Z. M. Younossi, G. Marchesini&A. J. McCullough: Clinical features and natural history of nonalcoholic steatosis syndromes. *Seminars in Liver Disease*, 21, 17-26(2001)
- 23. Bacon, B. R., M. J. Farahvash, C. G. Janney&B. A. Neuschwandertetri: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis an expanded clinical entity. *Gastroenterology*, 107, 1103-1109(1994)
- 24. Kim, H. J., K. E. Lee, D. J. Kim, C. W. Ahn, Lim, S.K., H. C. Kim, K. B. Huh&B. S. Cha: Metabolic significance of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in nonobese, nondiabetic adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 164, 2169-2175(2004)
- 25. Mofrad, P., M. J. Contos, M. Haque, C. Sargeant, R. A. Fisher, V. A. Luketic, R. K. Sterling, M. L. Shiffman, R. T. Stravitz&A. J. Sanyal: Clinical and histologic spectrum of

- nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with normal ALT values. *Hepatology*, 37, 1286-1292(2003)
- 26. Saadeh, S., Z. M. Younossi, E. M. Remer, T. Gramlich, J. P. Ong, J. Hurley, K. D. Mullen, J. N. Cooper&M. J. Sheridan: The utility of radiological imaging in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, 123, 745-750.(2002)
- 27. Brunt, E. M.: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Seminars in Liver Disease*, 24, 3-20(2004)
- 28. Burt, A. D., A. Mutton&C. P. Day: Diagnosis and interpretation of steatosis and steatohepatitis. *Seminars in Liver Disease*. 15, 246-258.(1998)
- 29. Brunt, E. M.: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: Definition and pathology. *Seminars in Liver Disease*, 21, 3-16(2001)
- 30. Brunt, E. M.&D. G. Tiniakos: Pathology of steatohepatitis. *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Gastroenterology*, 16, 691-707(2002)
- 31. Skelly, M. M., P. D. James&S. D. Ryder: Findings on liver biopsy to investigate abnormal liver function tests in the absence of diagnostic serology. *Journal of Hepatology*, 35, 195-199(2001)
- 32. Bianchi, L.: Liver biopsy in elevated liver function tests? An old question revisited. *Journal of Hepatology*, 35, 290-294(2001)
- 33. Connor, C. L.: Fatty infiltration of liver and development of cirrhosis in diabetes and chronic alcoholics. *American Journal of Pathology*, 14, 347-357(1938)
- 34. Westwater, J. O.&D. Fainer: Liver impairment in the obese. *Gastroenterology*, 34, 686-693(1958)
- 35. Thaler, H.: Die felleber und ihre pathogenethische Beziehung uzr libercirrhose. *Virchows Archives*, 335, 180-188(1962)
- 36. Thaler, H.: Relation of steatosis to cirrhosis. *Clinics in Gastroenterology*, 4, 273-280(1975)
- 37. Ludwig, J., T. R. Viggiano, D. B. McGill&B. J. Oh: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: Mayo Clinic experiences with a hitherto unnamed disease. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 55, 434-438(1980)
- 38. Zimmerman, H. J., F. G. MacMurray, H. Rappaport&L. K. Alpert: Studies of the liver in diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine*, 36, 912-921(1950)
- 39. Reinberg, M. H.&M. Lipson: The association of Laennec's cirrhosis with diabetes mellitus. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 33, 1195-1202(1950)
- 40. Bloodworth, J. M. B.: Diabetes mellitus and cirrhosis of the liver. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 108, 95-101(1961)
- 41. Jacques, W. E.: The incidence of portal cirrhosis and fatty metamorphosis in patients dying with diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 249, 442-445(1953)
- 42. Kern, W. H., A. H. Heger, J. H. Payne&L. T. DeWind: Fatty Metamorphosis of the liver in morbid obesity. *Archives of Pathology*, 96, 342-346(1973)
- 43. Itoh, S., N. Tsukada, Y. Motomure&A. Ichinoe: Five patients with nonalcoholic diabetic cirrhosis. *Acta Hepato-Gastroenterologica*, 26, 90-97(1979)
- 44. Itoh, S., M. Igarashi, Y. Tsukada&A. Ichinoe: Nonalcoholic fatty liver with alcoholic hyalin after long-term glucocorticoid therapy. *Acta Hepato-Gastroenterologica*, 24, 415-418(1977)

- 45. Matteoni, C. A., Z. M. Younossi, T. Gramlich, N. Boparai, Y. C. Liu&A. J. McCullough: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A spectrum of clinical and pathological severity. *Gastroenterology*, 116, 1413-1419(1999)
- 46. Younossi, Z. M., T. Gramlich, Y. C. Liu, C. Matteoni, M. Petrelli, J. Goldblum, L. Rybicki&A. J. McCullough: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease assessment of variability in pathologic interpretations. *Modern Pathology*, 11, 560-565(1998)
- 47. Day, C. P.: Pathogenesis of steatohepatitis. *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Gastroenterology*, 16, 663-678(2002)
- 48. Youssef, W. I.&A. J. McCullough: Diabetes mellitus, Obesity, and hepatic steatosis. *Seminars in Gastrointestinal Disease*, 13, 17-30(2002)
- 49. Angulo, P., J. C. Keach, K. P. Batts&K. D. Lindor: Independent predictors of liver fibrosis in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 30, 1356-1362(1999)
- 50. Brunt, E. M., C. G. Janney, A. M. Di Bisceglie, B. A. Neuschwander-Tetri&B. R. Bacon: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a proposal for grading and staging the histological lesions. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 94, 2467-74(1999)
- 51. Kleiner, D. E., E. M. Brunt, M. Van Natta, C. Behling, M. J. Contos, O. W. Cummings, L. D. Ferrell, Y.-C. Liu, M. S. Torbenson, M. Yeh, A. J. McCullough&A. J. Sanyal: Design and validation of a histologic scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). *Hepatology*, 38, 233A(2003)
- 52. Brunt, E. M., B. A. Neuschwander-Tetri, D. A. Oliver, K. R. Wehmeier&B. R. Bacon: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: histologic features and clinical correlations with 30 blinded biopsies. *Human Pathology*, 35, 1070-1082(2004)
- 53. Vuppalanchi, R., M. Matsumoto, O. W. Cummings, T. M. Ulbright, R. Saxena, L. Li, D. W. Crabb&N. Chalasani: Histological grading of hepatic steatosis by pathologists does not correlate with hepatic triglyceride content. *Hepatology*, 40, 985A(2004)
- 54. Abdelmalek, M., J. Ludwig&K. D. Lindor: Two cases from the spectrum of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 20, 127-130(1995)
- 55. Powell, E. E., W. G. Cooksley, R. Hanson, J. Searle, J. W. Halliday&L. W. Powell: The natural history of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a follow-up study of forty-two patients for up to 21 years. *Hepatology*, 11, 74-80(1990)
- 56. Caldwell, S. H., D. H. Oelsner, J. C. Iezzoni, E. E. Hespenheide, E. H. Battle&C. J. Driscoll: Cryptogenic cirrhosis: Clinical characterization and risk factors for underlying disease. *Hepatology*, 29, 664-669(1999)
- 57. Poonawala, A., S. P. Nair&P. J. Thuluvath: Prevalence of obesity and diabetes in patients with cryptogenic cirrhosis: A case-control study. *Hepatology*, 32, 689-692(2000)
- 58. Brunt, E. M.: Alcoholic and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 6, 399-420(2002) 59. Caldwell, S. H., C. Chang, L. A. Krugner-Higby, J. A. Redick, C. A. Davis&A. M. S. Al-Osaimi: The ballooned hepatocyte in NAFLD: Denegerative or adaptive? *Journal of Hepatology*, 40(suppl 1), 168A(2004)

- 60. Feldstein, A. E., N. W. Werneburg, A. Canbay, M. E. Guicciardi, S. F. Bronk, R. Rydzewski, L. J. Burgart&G. J. Gores: Free fatty acids promote hepatic lipotoxicity by stimulating TNFa expression via a lysosomal pathway. *Hepatology*, 40, 185-194(2004)
- 61. Feldstein, A. E., A. Canbay, P. Angulo, M. Taniai, L. J. Burgart, K. D. Lindor&G. J. Gores: Hepatocyte apoptosis and fas expression are prominent features of human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gastroenterology*, 125, 437-443(2003)
- 62. Ludwig, J., D. B. McGill&K. D. Lindor: Review: nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 12, 398-403(1997)
- 63. Caldwell, S. H.&E. E. Hespenheide: Subacute liver failure in obese women. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 97, 2058-2062(2002)
- 64. Itoh, S., T. Yougel&K. Kawagoe: Comparison between nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and alcoholic hepatitis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 82, 650-654(1987)
- 65. Abrams, G. A., S. S. Kunde, A. J. Lazenby&R. H. Clements: Portal fibrosis and hepatic steatosis in morbidly obese subjects: a spectrum of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology*, 40, 475-4483(2004)
- 66. Ratziu, V., P. Giral, F. Charlotte, E. Bruckert, V. Thibault, I. Theodorou, L. Khalil, G. Turpin, P. Opolon&T. Poynard: Liver fibrosis in overweight patients. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 1117-1123(2000)
- 67. Dixon, J. B., P. S. Bhatal&P. E. O'Brien: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: predictors of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis in the severely obese. *Gastroenterology*, 121, 91-100(2001)
- 68. Washington, K., K. Wright, Y. Shyr, E. B. Hunter, S. Olson&D. S. Raiford: Hepatic stellate cell activation in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and fatty liver. *Human Pathology*, 31, 822-828(2000)
- 69. Cortez-Pinto, H., A. Baptista, M. E. Camilo&M. C. de Moura: Hepatic stellate cell activation occurs in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepato-Gastroenterology*, 48, 87-90(2001)
- 70. Stumptner, C., A. Fuchsbichler, H. Heid, K. Zatloukal&H. Denk: Mallory Body A disease-associated type of sequestosome. *Hepatology*, 35, 1053-1062(2002) 71. Denk, H., C. Stumptner&K. Zatloukal: Mallory bodies
- revisited. *J Hepatol*, 32, 689-702(2000)
- 72. Muller, T., C. Langner, A. Fuchsbicher, H. Ellemunter, B. Shchlenck, A. R. Bavdekar, A. M. Pradhan, A. Bandit, J. Juller-Hocker, M. Melter, K. Kobayashi, H. Nagasaka, H. Kikuta, W. Muller, M. S. Tanner, I. Sternlieb, K. Zatloukal&H. Denk: Immunohistochemical analysis of Mallory bodies in Wilsonian and nonWilsonian hepatic copper toxicosis. *Hepatology*, 39, 963-969(2004)
- 73. Sanyal, A. J.: Insulin resistance and tissue repair: a "fatological" phenomenon. *Gastroenterolgy*, 125, 1886-1888(2003)
- 74. Sanyal, A. J., C. Campbell-Sargent, F. Mirshahi, W. B. Rizzo, M. J. Contos, R. K. Sterling, V. A. Luketic, M. L. Shiffman&J. N. Clore: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: association of insulin resistance and mitochondrial abnormalities. *Gastroenterology*, 120, 1183-1192(2001) 75. Caldwell, S. H., R. H. Swerdlow, E. M. Khan, J. C.

Iezzoni, E. E. Hespenheide, J. K. Parks&W. D. Parker, Jr.:

1482

- Mitochondrial abnormalities in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Hepatology*, 31, 430-434(1999) 76. Le, T. H., S. H. Caldwell, J. A. Redick, B. L. Sheppard, C. A. Davis, K. O. Arseneau, J. C. Iezzoni, E. E. Hespenheide, A. Al-Osaimi&T. C. Peterson: The zonal distribution of megamitochondria with crystalline inclusions in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 39, 1423-1429(2004)
- 77. Caldwell, S. H., C. Y. Chang, R. K. Nakamoto&L. A. Krugner-Higby: Mitochondria in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 595-617(2004)
- 78. Nagore, N.&P. J. Scheuer: The pathology of diabetic hepatitis. *Journal of Pathology*, 156, 155-160(1988)
- 79. Cortez-Pinto, H., A. Baptista, M. E. Camilo, A. Valente, A. Saragoca&M. C. Demoura: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis clinicopathological comparison with alcoholic hepatitis in ambulatory and hospitalized patients. *Digestive Diseases & Sciences*, 41, 172-179(1996)
- 80. George, D. K., S. Goldwurm, G. A. MacDonald, L. L. Cowley, N. I. Walker, P. J. Ward, E. C. Jazwinska&L. W. Powell: Increased hepatic iron concentration in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis is associated with increased fibrosis. *Gastroenterology*, 114, 311-318(1998)
- 81. Bugianesi, E., P. Manzini, S. D'Antico, E. Vanni, F. Longo, N. Leone, P. Massarenti, A. Piga, G. Marchesini&M. Rizzetto: Relative contribution of iron burden, HFE mutations, and insulin resistance to fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver. *Hepatology*, 39, 179-187(2004)
- 82. Fargion, S.: Dysmetabolic iron overload syndrome. *Haematologica*, 84, 97-98(1999)
- 83. Fargion, S., M. Mattioli, A. L. Fracanzani, M. Sampietro, D. Tavazzi, P. Fociani, E. Taioli, L. Valenti&G. Fiorelli: Hyperferritinemia, iron overload and multiple metabolic alterations identify patients at risk for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 96, 2448-2455(2001)
- 84. Facchini, F. S., N. W. Hua&R. A. Stoohs: Effect of iron depletion in carbohydrate-intolerant patients with clinical evidence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, 122, 931-939(2002)
- 85. Mendler, M. H., B. Turlin, R. Moirand, A. M. Jouanolle, T. Sapey, D. Guyader, J. Y. Le Gall, P. Brissot, V. David&Y. Deugnier: Insulin resistance-associated hepatic iron overload. *Gastroenterology*, 117, 1155-1163(1999)
- 86. Moirand, R., M. H. Mendler, A. Guillygomarc'h, P. Brissot&Y. Deugnier: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with iron: part of insulin resistance-associated hepatic iron overload? *Journal of Hepatology*, 33, 1024-1026(2000)
- 87. Bonkovsky, H. L., Q. Jawaid, K. Tortorelli, P. LeClair, J. Cobb, R. W. Lambrecht&B. F. Banner: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and iron: increased prevalence of mutations of the HFE gene in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Journal of Hepatology*, 31, 421-429(1999)
- 88. Younossi, Z. M., T. Gramlich, B. R. Bacon, C. A. Matteoni, N. Boparai, R. O'Neill&A. J. McCullough: Hepatic iron and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology*, 30, 847-850(1999)
- 89. Chitturi, S., M. Weltman, G. C. Farrell, D. McDonald, C. Liddle, D. Samarasinghe, R. Lin, S. Abeygunasekera&J. George: HFE Mutations, hepatic iron, and fibrosis: Ethnic-

- specific association of NASH with C282Y but not with fibrotic severity. *Hepatology*, 36, 142-149(2002)
- 90. Chitturi, S.&J. George: Interaction of iron, insulin resistance, and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Current Gastroenterology Reports*, 5, 18-25(2003)
- 91. Scheuer, P. J.: Classification of chronic viral hepatitis: a need for reassessment. *J Hepatol*, 13, 372-374(1991)
- 92. Knodell, R. G., K. G. Ishak, W. C. Black, T. S. chen, R. Craig, N. Kaplowitz, T. W. Kiernan&J. Wollman: Formulation and application of a numerical scoring system for assessing histological activity in asymptomatic chronic active hepatitis. *Hepatology*, 1, 431-435(1981)
- 93. Bedossa, P., T. Poynard&f. t. M. c. s. group: A algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 24, 289-293(1996)
- 94. Group, T. F. M. C. S.: Intraobserver and interobserver variations in liver biopsy interpretation in patiens with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*, 20, 15-20(1994)
- 95. Ishak, K. G., A. Baptista, L. Bianchi, F. Callea, J. DeGroote, F. Gudat, H. Denk, V. Desmet, K. Gerhard, R. N. MacSween, M. J. Phillips, B. G. Portmann, H. Poulsen, P. J. Scheuer, M. Schmid&H. Thaler: Histological grading and staging of chronic hepatitis. *J Hepatol*, 22, 696-699(1995)
- 96. Brunt, E. M.: Grading and staging the histopathological lesions of chronic hepatitis: The Knodell histology activity index and beyond. *Hepatology*, 31, 241-246(2000)
- 97. Roberts, E. A.: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in children. *Current Gastroenterology Reports*, 5, 253-259(2003)
- 98. Lavine, J. E.&J. B. Schwimmer: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in the pediatric population. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 549-558(2004)
- 99. Molleston, J. P., F. White, J. Teckman&J. F. Fitzgerald: Obese children with steatohepatitis can develop cirrhosis in childhood. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 97, 2460-2462(2002)
- 100. Schwimmer, J. B., C. Behling, R. Newbury, N. McGreal, J. Rauch, R. Deutsch&J. E. Lavine: The histological features of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Hepatology*, 36, 412A(2002)
- 101. Harrison, S. A.&B. A. Neuschwander-Tetri: Pharmacologic management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 715-728(2004)
- 102. Dixon, J. B., P. S. Bhatal, N. R. Hughes&P. E. O'Brien: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Improvement in liver histological analysis with weight loss. *Hepatology*, 39, 1647-1654(2004)
- 103. Lindor, K. D., K. V. Kowdley, E. J. Heathcote, M. E. Harrison, R. A. Jorgensen, P. Angulo, J. F. Lymp, L. J. Burgart&P. Colin: Ursodeoxycholic acid for treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: results of a randomized trial. *Hepatology*, 39, 770-778(2004)
- 104. Brunt, E. M., S. Ramrakhiani, B. G. Cordes, B. A. Neuschwander-Tetri, C. G. Janney, B. R. Bacon&A. M. Di Bisceglie: Concurrence of histologic features of steathepatitis with other forms of chronic liver disease. *Mod Pathol*, 16, 49-56(2003)
- 105. Sanyal, A. J., M. J. Contos, R. K. Sterling, V. A. Luketic, M. L. Shiffman, R. T. Stravitz&A. S. Mills: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with hepatitis C is associated with features of the metabolic syndrome. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 98, 2064-2071(2003)

- 106. Ong, J. P., Z. M. Younossi, C. Speer, A. Olano, T. Gramlich&N. Boparai: Chronic hepatitis C and superimposed nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver*, 21, 266-71(2001)
- 107. Hui, J. M., J. Kench, G. C. Farrell, R. Lin, D. Samarasinghe, C. Liddle, K. Byth&J. George: Genotype-specific mechanisms for hepatic steatosis in chronic hepatitis C infection. *Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, 17, 873-81(2002)
- 108. Hui, J. M., A. Sud, G. C. Farrell, P. Bandara, K. Byth, J. G. Kench, G. W. McCaughan&J. George: Insulin resistance is associated with chronic hepatitis C virus infection fibrosis progression. *Gastroenterology*, 125, 1695-1704(2003)
- 109. McCullough, A. J.&Y. Falck-Ytter: Body composition and hepatic steatosis as precursors for fibrotic liver disease. *Hepatology*, 29, 1328-1330(1999)
- 110. Adinolfi, L. E., R. Utili&G. Ruggiero: Body composition and hepatic steatosis as precursors of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. *Hepatology*, 30, 1530(1999) 111. Hickman, I. J., A. D. Clouston, G. A. Macdonald, D. M. Purdie, J. B. Prins, S. Ash, J. R. Jonsson&E. E. Powell: Effect of weight reduction on liver histology and biochemistry in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Gut*, 51, 89-94(2002)
- 112. Hourigan, L. F., G. A. Macdonald, D. Purdie, V. H. Whitehall, C. Shorthouse, A. Clouston&E. E. Powell: Fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C correlates significantly with body mass index and steatosis. *Hepatology*, 29, 1215-1219(1999)
- 113. Festi, D., A. Colecchia, T. Sacco, M. Bondi, E. Roda&G. Marchesini: Hepatic steatosis in obese patients: clinical aspects and prognostic significance. *Obesity Reviews*, 5, 27-42(2004)
- 114. Monto, A.: Hepatitis C and steatosis. Seminars in Gastrointestinal Disease, 13, 40-46(2002)
- 115. Moriya, K., H. Yotsuyanagi, Y. Shintani, H. Fujie, K. Ishibashi, Y. Matsuura, T. Miyamura&K. Koike: Hepatitis c virus core protein induces hepatic steatosis in transgenic mice. *Journal of General Virology*, 78, 1527-1531(1997)
- 116. Serfaty, L., T. Andreani, P. Giral, N. Carbonell, O. Chazouilleres&R. Poupon: Hepatitis C virus induced hypobetalipoproteinemia: a possible mechanism for steatosis in chronic hepatitis C. *Journal of Hepatology*, 34, 428-434(2001)
- 117. Shintani, Y., H. Fujie, H. Miyoshi, T. Takeya, K. Tsukamoto, S. Kimura, K. Moriya&K. Koike: Hepatitis C virus infection and diabetes: direct involvement of the virus in the development of insulin resistance. *Gastroenteroolgy*, 126, 840-848(2004)
- 118. Weinman, S. A.&L. M. Belalcazar: Hepatitis C: A metabolic liver disease. *Gastroenterology*, 126, 917-919(2004)
- 119. Yang, S., A. Koteish, H. Z. Lin, J. Huang, T. Roskams, V. Dawson&A. M. Diehl: Oval cells compensate for damage and replicative senescence of mature hepatocytes in mice with fatty liver disease. *Hepatology*, 39, 403-411(2004)
- 120. Roskams, T., S. Q. Yang, A. Koteish, A. Durnez, R. DeVos, X. Huang, R. Achten, C. Verslype&A. M. Diehl: Oxidative stress and oval cell accumulation in mice and

- humans with alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *American Journal of Pathology*, 163, 1301-1311(2003)
- 121. Dixon, J. B., P. S. Bhathal&P. E. O'Brien: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Predictors of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis in the severely obese. *Gastroenterology*, 121, 91-100(2001)
- 122. Shimada, M., E. Hashimoto, H. Kaneda, S. Noguchi&N. Hayashi: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: risk factors for liver fibrosis. *Hepatology Research*, 24, 429-438(2002)
- 123. Hui, J. M., A. Hodge, G. C. Farrell, J. G. Kench, A. Kriketos&J. George: Beyond insulin resistance in NASH: TNF-a or adiponectin? *Hepatology*, 40, 46-54(2004)
- 124. Day, C. P.&S. Saksena: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: Definitions and pathogenesis. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 17, S377-S384(2002)
- 125. Day, C. P.: The potential role of genes in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, 8, 673-691(2004)
- 126. Sreekumar, R., B. Rosado, D. Rasmussen&M. Charlton: Hepatic gene expression in histologically progressive nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology*, 38, 244-251(2003)
- **Key Words:** Steatosis, Fatty change, Steatohepatitis, Nonalcoholic, Liver, Pathology, Review
- Send correspondence to: Elizabeth M. Brunt, MD, 4h Floor Firmin Desloge Towers, Saint Louis University Hospital, 3635 Vista Avenue at Grand Boulevard, Saint Louis, MO 63110, U.S.A., Tel:314-577-8782, Fax: 314-268-5120, E-mail: bruntem@slu.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm